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THE TRIAL.

EDMUND, alias EDIVARD THROIVER,
(58 years of age) was tried on an Indictment
charging him with (not having the fear of God
before his eyes, but instigated by the Devil)
feloniously, wilfully, maliciously, and with
malice aforethought, making an assault on
ELIZABETH CARTER, at Cratfield, in
the county of Suffolk, on the 16¢h day of October,
in the 33d year of the present reign, in and
upon the body of the said Elizabeth Carter, and
with a certain hammer then and therewith did
strike the said Elizabeth divers mortal wounds
upon the head, of which she died; against the
statute, and against the King's peace ; and to
whick the prisoner pleaded Not Guilty.

He stood charged on another Indictment, for
the Wilful Murder of THOMAS CARTER,
the father of the said Elizabeth Carter, at the
same time. -

B/ R. ALDERSON, Counsel for the prosecu-

tion, addressed the Jury, and commented
with considéfable feeling on the nature of the
offence with which the prisoner stood charged,
previous to detailing the facts attending the
case. It was an observation, said the learned
Counsel, that was frequently heard, and a regu-
lating principle of morals, that murder will come
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out ; but however remote, the awful hands of jus-
tice invariably sooner or later visited it. If the
case was proved in this instance, that general
observation would be confirmed, as this murder
would be proved to have been committed as
long since as the 16th of October 1793, Ifthe
guilt of the prisoner should be proved, he must
have led a very unhappy life for several years
past, for however callous the person so offending
might have become, yet there were those sort of
visitations, and compunctions of conscience,
which held the mind in a state of disquietude, —
The two persons whom the prisoner was charged
with having murdered, resided at the village of
Cratfield, and kept a little shop. They would
be proved to have been alive at six o'clock on
the evening the murder was perpetrated, by wit-
nesses who saw both walking in the garden; and
it would also be stated clearly in evidence, that
the house was quiet, and the lights were out at
nine o'clock in the eyening ; and this was a
circumstance which the learned Counsel ob-
served would assist the Jury hereafter in judging
of the time the murder was committed.

The next part of the evidence would be to
prove, that at about nine o'clock in the evening,
a man was observed hurrying off from the house
where the persons killed resided. This was a
circumstance by which the Jury might draw
inference that the murder was perpetrated by
one person, for if three had committed it they
would most likely have all been seen, and this
would be found extremely important in corro-
boration of some other part of the evidence.—
It would be proved in evidence, that the pri-
soner lived in an adjoining parish to Stradbrook,
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which was contrary to his own representation,
and on the night the murder was committed he
did not return home to sleep as usunal, which
was another most important feature in this case,
of circumstantial evidence, as regarding the
murder itself. That a murder had been com-
mitted would be proved by witnesses who re-
sided on the spot, and particularly by a woman
who found the body of the female lying partly
on a gooseberry bush in the garden fronting
Carter’s house, with her brains scattered in
every direction, and the father was found mur-
dered within the house. The horrid murder
had excited universal alarm throughout the

country, and every means of discovery proved

ineffectual. The matter was buried in obscurity,
and no trace was had of it until eight or nine
years after, and that by a mere accident which
the Jury would bear strongly in their minds.

The horrible murder of the Marr-and William-
son families last Autumn, which had excited
national alarm, was the subject of much con-
versation all over the country ; and a Magistrate
of the county, in conversing on the subject of
these murders in London with Mr., Fox, an at-
torney, happened to observe, that the murder
at Cratfield, which bore resemblance to those of
the Marr and Williamson family, yet remained
a secret.

A man, named Saunders, under sentence of
death in Norfolk gaol, and who was executed,
had told Head, a witness in this case, (at that
time a prisoner for felony in the same gaol) that
he had often been suspected of the murder in

uestion, but he declared his innocence of it.
he matter was strange to Head at this time,
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and he recollected the prisoner had told him
some time before, that he had killed two people
with a hammer ; he communicated this matter to
Mr. Oldershaw, a Magistrate, who took Head’s
deposition in writing, and used every effort to
find out the prisoner Thrower in vain, and he
was supposed to have been dead. Mr. Older-
shaw, in his conversation with Mr. Fox, was re-
lating the statement and subsequent depositions
of Head, and was describing the prisoner as a
man who had parted from his wife ; and here an
incident extremely remarkable occurred : Mr.
Fox had been employed to paya legacy to the
very prisoner’s wife, and it having been neces-
sary to ascertain whether her husband was alive,
he discovered that he was in existence, and re-
sided at Carbrook, in Norfolk. This discourse,
which was mere chat, turned out most important.
The prisoner was apprehended, as were also
Head and a woman.

Auother piece of circumstantial evidence, the
learned Counsel observed, was very important.
On the prisoner being taken into custody, he
was desirous to know if Head had given in evi-
dence, and having been answered by the officer
who had him in charge in the affirmative, and
that he told the same story he had done ten
years before, the prisoner appeared much agi-
tated, and said he was present at the murder
with Head and a man called Gipsey Will. An
observation very necessary to be made here was,
that the prisoner had never offered to make any
sort of confession until he had been informed
Head had so done. Head would be necessarily
brought forward as an evidence in this case. ' It
should not be a secret: that he had been trans-
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ported, but since his return he had resided in the
town where he lived before he was convicted of
felony, in‘a manner decently for a man of his
kind. He had suffered the sentence of the law,
and he would tell the Jury upon his oath, that
in 1793, when these murders were committed,
he resided at Swaffham, in Norfolk. He knew
the prisoner two years before, by his travellin
with asses. On one occasion, whilst Head was
mending a shoe with a broken kind of hammer,
the prisoner observed, he would supply him with
a better when he came that way again. It'was
a long time after that he called on Head again,
with his wife and child, and he was reminded of
the promise of the hamimer, when he made a
most singular declaration, and a very important
one, that he had had a bloody job; he had
knocked out the brains of a girl and her father.
It might be asked here, said the Counsel, why
Head had not represented this confession of the
prisoner to a Magistrate * and he would give the
best answer ; it was because Head believed the
story incredible, and the prisoner he knew to be
very guilty of uttering falsehoods; it was a
strong inclination of his. It was to be observed,
that it was full eight years after this affair that
it came into Head’s mind, and he would be
found to tell the same story in his evidence as
he had done at that time, as would be proved
by the testimony of the Magistrate before whom
such deposition was taken. ' .
Another very important piece of evidence, in
corroboration of the story Head would tell in
evidence, was the examination of Thrower, the
prisoner, before two Magistrates at Harleston,
on the 3d or 4th of January last. He will be
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proved to have stated that he had a knowledge
of the murder. His confession was, that he
met two persons near Cratfield, Smith, alias
Gipsey Will, and Head. The confession of
the prisoner went to state, that he was to get
101. for the job. On arriving at Carter’s hnuse

Smith said they must stop there ; this was be-
twixt eight and nine o'clock in the evening.—
The deceased woman was putting a shutter to,
when Head gave her blows with a hammer,
threw her over a hedge, and repeated the blows.
Smith went into the house and struck the old
man. They did not rob the house, nor did the
prisoner receive any money for accompanying
them. The story would be proved by a chain
of evidence to corroborate the testimony of
Head. The prisoner knew the time, described
the night, the state in which the body would
be proved to have been found, and other parti-
culars which would be proved to be correct, and
which was tolerably demonstrative that he was
there when the murder was committed.

[The Judge interrupted the learned Counsel
in the abmre sentence, and observed, it was &
misprision of felony, and the declaration of the
prisoner could only be taken as far as corrobo-
rated by other testimony. ]

The Counsel resumed his address to the Jury,
and observed that it was not his desire to stretch
the law on the subject. In murder it was gene-
rallv known there was no accessary, and he (the
learned Counsel) was satisfied the wisdom of the
Judge would give a clear definition of the law on
the Sl]hjLLt and should it turn out that the in-
dictment could not be supported, he would
leave the prisoner to his own gnilty conscienee;
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and he would one day be called before a Judge
who would execute his dreadful vengeance upon
the offence. In the close of his address the
Counsel observéd, he was satisfied the Jury
would do their duty, and justice would be done
the country, whatever might be their verdict.

To establish the perpetration of the Murder, the
Jollowing witnesses were called :

JOHN WRIGHT sworn.
Examined by Mr. Alderson.

Where do you live, Wright ?
At Stradbrook.
How rar is Stradbrook from Cratfield ?
About four miles,
. Do you remember a murder having been committed at
Cratfield in 1793 ?

A. Yes, very well,

Q. Do you recollect seeing Elizabeth Carter on the even-
ing the murder was committed ?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you see her father too ?

A, Idid.

Q. Did you see the body of the young woman the morn-
ing after the murder ?

A. Yes, I saw the body about ten o'clock in the morning,

Q. Iu what state was it ? :

A. It was lying over & hedge in front of the little house
where Carter lived.

Q. It was a live hedge, was it not ?

A. Yes.

Q. What was the state of the head ?

A. Idon't recollect. .

Q. I don’t mean how it laid : I want to koow the state of
the head from any blows received ?

A. It was much shattered by baving been struck many
times apparently.

Q. Did you observe the brains of the deceased ?

A, Yes, scattered at some distance.
B
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(). Were the brains betwixt the hedge and the window,
or on the garden side ?

A. On the garden side, scattered abont,

Q. Did you see the old man, Carter ¢

- A. Yes, 1 saw him in the house.

Mré. DUNNET swors,

Q. Where do you live ?

A. Near the cottage where Carter lived.

Q. You say near; am I to understand you a mile off, or
what distance ?

A. Only a few yards.

Q. Are you enabled to communicate in what state Carter’s
house was on the evening preceding the murder, in 17937

A. The light was out at nine o’clock, and they were all
quiet. DMy clock I thought was too slow, and I went to sge
how my neighbour’s was; but as there was no light, I sup-
pozed they were gone to hed and [ went home again.

Q. Did you see the two dead bodies the next morning ?

A. Yes,

(. What were the appearances about Elizabeth Carter ?

A. As though she had been banged about the head with a
hammer.

JOHN HARMAN sworn,

Q. Where do you live ?

A. At Cratfield.

Q. Do you recollect the murder of Carter and his danghter 2

+ A. Yess' T was returning from Norwich with my w:fe n
a cart, on the evening of the murder.

Q. At what time did you reach Cratfield ?

A. A little before nine o’clock ; a quarter before or so.

Q. Was your attention excited, and by what means ?

A. I was coming along Chevenhall Green near Carter's
house, (interrupted)

.Q. How far from the house?

A. About a reod,

Q. Well, proceed, what excited your attention?

A, Asl was driving alnng Chevenhall Green, as I before
said, I heard a sharp woman's shriek, and I pulled up, and
said to my wife, “I heard a woman shriek, and it was
encugh to stun any body.”
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Q. What did you do then?

A. I went on.—My wife said she supposed some man was
tarning his wife out of doors, or quarrelling, or some such
thing,

l}f What followed? Go on with what yousaw & heard ?

A. I saw a man running, or walking quick, when I got
to the four cross-ways, from towards Carter’s house, and I
made a kind of halt when he was before me.—I was a quar-
ter of a mile or so from Carter’s hr;-use then,

Q. What became of that man ?

A. He went overastile on theleft hand of Cratfield Green.

Q. What sort of an evening was it ?

A. It was a fine bright moonlight night as ever I saw.

Q. Am I to understand you to say you were going from
or approaching Carter’s house when you saw the man to
whom you have alluded ¢
Going from the house.

Do you know the man ?

No, not if I saw him.

What sized man was he?

Not so tall as myself. [Witness was about 5 feet 6]

rO>L>

PETER CHANDLER sworn.

). Where do you reside ?

A. At Cratfield.

Q. You then recollect the murder committed there as a
matter of course ?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you see the dead bodies the next mnrnmg $)

A. Yes.

Q. At what time ?

[Here the Judge interfered, and observed to Mr. Alderson, that
he had sufficiently established the fact of the murder having
been committed.]

Evidence was then adduced to charge the pnsuner wn‘.h haw

ing perpetrated the murder. :

MARY CATTERMOLE sworn.

Q. Where do you live ?

A. At Stradbrook.

Q. Did you know where Carter lived ?
A. 1 was never there.
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Q. Do you know the prisoner ?
A. Yes, he lodged at my house,
€. Was that about.the time the murder was commiited »
A. Yes; he slept in a wood-hole amongst straw.
Q. Doyon recolléct soas to fix the night the murder was
committed ?
A. Yes, I had a child in fits,
- Q. Was the prisoner at your house that night, or in other
words, did he come home to sleep ?
A. No, he was not at the house that night,
Q. (From the Judge.) Did you see him after, and how soon?
A, It was a week or more: it must be that.
Q. (By the prisoner.) Don’t you know my sister came for
me that day, and did I not go home with her ?
A I can't speak to that at all.

[The prisoner here stated in @ manner of defence, and not in
asking questions, that he went to his sister's house, and staid
a week. ]

Q. (ByCounsel.) Are you quite certain you know nothing
of the prisener’s sister coming for him ?
A. Quite certain of that.
Q. (By the Judge.) 'lhe prlsunﬂ did not lie constantly
at your house ?
A. No.
Judge. This is no great matter.

JOHN HEAD, the Approver, swoh.

Q. You ire ¢ome here, Ibelieve, from Ipswich Gaol7?

A. Yes,

Q. You were there charged with t.h!ﬁ murder ?

A. Yes, - ' ]

Q, Where did you reside before apprehension ?

A. At Swaftham.

Q. ‘What was your emplay ?

A, Cutting ling.

Q. You have served SEVEN Yearson board the hulks, have
you not §

A. Yes.

Q. When were you discharged ?

A. Four years next August.

Q. Have you lwed at.Swaffham ever since {

A. Yes. "
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Q.. Do you know the prisoner, and how long ?
A. ‘About 30 years ;%1 bought au ass of him the first tima

I saw him, for five shillings au:l sispence, abd then ] agke E % f
him his name, for fear the ass should have heen sluleu.-r R
Q. When did you see him again? i% i
A. Several times, three or fout; and then I misged himy 3.~ i
for more than eight years, '5 N 8
Q. What about # hammer which youn have spoken of in ,{; \‘Yf\
another place § = W
A, He promised to give me one, Ao
Q. State particulars {8 3
A. I was mending my own shoés on a wet day, whep the =3 q .}{
prisoner called upon me, and be observed I had got a bad ¥

hammer, (it being broke) and he promised the hext time he
called that way, he would bring me a good ene, and I muld
then work like a man.

Q. (From the Judge) How soon did you se2 the prisoner
again ?

g)'!n I can’ttell; it was J.ﬂ.er barvegt, and less than a year,
The next time he called he wanted to lodge with me, and [
gent him to 2 woman at the next door but one to where I
live.—He had his wife and child with him, and 1 took his™~
child in, and asked him about the hammer he promised me.

Q. What was his reply when you spoke abont the hammer ?

A, He said a man and woman of whom be bopght things
had persuaded his wife to take up with enother masn, and
not to live with him after he had returned from transporias
tion ; and that he had done them a kindness in return, for he
had !:aught the woman dumg up a shotter, aud he banged
her so about the head with a hammer, that he killed her
and threw her over a gooseberry bush ; he then said he went
into the house, and the old mah was sitting in ah arm chair,
when he gave him a blow and killed him,

Q. Was there any other conversation ?

A. He said he had done both a kinduess,

Q. Did he stute with what ipstrument he commitied the
murder ? \

A. Yes, he accounted to me for not giving me the pro-
mised hammer, because he had done the murders with ig,
and it was bloody., He had tried 1o scratch the bload froig
it, bot he counld not do it well, zud he said he had thrown
it into the Brockdish river.

Q. Did he state any thing further #

A. Yes, he said he Liad blooded his frock glsa, ami be bad
buried that undeg gropnd,
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Q. Why did you not communicate the prisoner’s confess
sion to a Magistrate, or any other person ?

A. Because [ did not believe a word of the story. T had
heard him tell so many stories before, which nobody would
ever have thought of,

Q. Upon the oath you have taken, was you everin Suffolk
before your apprehension ?

A. I believe I may say I have been in Suffolk, but never
any where near Cratfield I can swear,

Q. Do you know Smith, otherwise Gipsey Will

A. No.

). When did you first hear of the murders ?

A. By John Saunders, in Norwich Gaol.

€). Was he a convict?

A. No, he was there for steahug two heifers, for v-h::ch_
ke was afterwards hanged.

). He represented to vou, I believe, that he was suspected
of being the perpetrator of these murders ?

A. Yes, he did, and swore to his innocence,

Q. How came you at length to make a discovery?

A. It was in consequence of something which had been
mentioned.

Q. You told the real truth before the Magistrates at that
discovery you made ten years ago, did you not ?

A. T'told the real truth, and nothing but the trath; it
was eleven years ago.

¢}. And you have spoke nothing but truth I‘.u-da:f ?

A, It is all true that I have said.

). The Jury are to uuderstand, you first heard of the
murder at Cratfield from Saunders ? ;

A, Yes.

Q. (By the prisoner, who had no Counsel.) You say wrong
about not knowing me only so many years ; ynu have known
me from a boy.

A. I have said true about first knowing yuu
[ The prisoner, instead of putting further questions, went on ﬂpmt

his defence.]

Q. (From the Judge.) Dou’t you know ihe pl’]SﬂnE‘T
charged you with being the man who committed the murder?

.IEL Yﬂ&, he did!

Mr. ARCHDEACON OLDERSHAW examined.

Q. I believe, Sir, you are a Magistrate of Norfolk?
A. I am.
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). Relate what you know relative to Head's contession,

A. I called on Head in Norwich Gaol, and took his de-
pmitiuns relative to this murder, 10 or 11 years ago, which

- depositions I cannot find,

Q. Did Head's deposition at that time accord with what
he has sworn to-day !

A. I took a constable with me when Head made his depo-
sition, and he has entered more fully into his statement than
he did in the former instance, but what he has sworn to i1s a
corroboration of what he stated eleven years agn.

(). Saunders, | am led to believe, was suspected of being
the perpetrator of this murder ?

A. I committed Saunders on the 1st of Avgust 1801, and
he was so suspected. Head informed me of most be has
sworn 1o to-day,and he described the prizoner pretty accu-
rately as baving travelled with asses, and whose wile was
living with another man, whom he would like to dammer too.

(). There was no suspicion attached to Head at that time
relative to the murders ? .

A. I never heard if uny of his depositions were given vo-
luntarily. .

. I believe, Sir, vou exerted yourself to the utmost of
your endeavours to find the prisoner ?

A, Iconeeived it a duly incumbent on me to find the pri«
soner, and I ascertained that his wife was living with a man
of the name 'of Norman, at Swadbrovk. The prisoner was
apprehended under my warrant, but committed by Mr.
Kerrich, a brother Magistrate.

Q. By what means did you find the prisoner?

A. I was conversing with Mr. Fox on the subject of the
murders in London, when the conversation turned to the one
undiscovered at Cratfield, and I was telling Mr. Fox of the
prisoner, and describing him, when Mr. F. it turoed out,
had a legacy in hand for the prisoner’s wife, which could not
be executed without the husband, and that led to his disco-
very through Mr. Fox, and he was apprehended.

Q. Where was Head living when apprehended ?

A. At Swaffbam, with a woman named Jordan, who was
taken with him.

SARALII DUNNET was sworn,
T'o prove Carter’s house was not robbed.

Q. You live close by where Carter lived I understand ; de
you kugw that the house was not robbed ?
A, I'never heard that it was, but could not say.
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Adother witniess, Mr. Fisher, Overseer of Cratfield, whe
was in the house the next morning, and who lived

on the spot, proved, to the best of his bE—liLf the house
was not robbed. -

ROBERT émn_'u, a Constable, sworn. , .

). Yon apprehended the prisoner ?
: A. Yes.
(). Had youanyconversationon the subjectof this murder?
v A Yes,
). (From the Bench.) Did you ask him to coufess, or hold
out hopes of favour if he would confess ?
A. No, none; [ told him what Head had formerly said.
L), Proceedid
A: Whilst copducting the prisoner from Swaff bam to Dere-
ham he made a confession of the murder, and charged Head
with being the man who did it.
Q. Did 1he prisoner ask if Head continued in the sarde
story he had done 11 years ago ?
A. Y{S
' Q. (From the prisener.) Did you not tell me, going on the
toad, to say I had better say Head 'was with me at the mur-
der, and that if I would take your advice you would be
bound for my safety. .
A.7(With an air of surprme, addressing the Judge.} No,
I never viiered such expleaﬁiuus e

PRIE{}NER'S CONFESSION.

- The written Confession of the prisoner, before Messrs,
Cldershaw and Kerrick, Esqrs, Magistrates, 2lthough highly,
important 1o the readers of thiz trial, was not conceived so
either inthe prosecution or the defence, the former from nok
moking use of if, and the other from not being aware, in the
ahsence of counsel, of the importance of it. The  coun-
frssion of the prisoner, as follows, was dated the 4th of J an.,
1812 :—Having been confined on hoard the Fortunée hulk,
at Portsmouth, in March 1792, 1 was discharged, and went
to work for Mr. Potler, of Stradbrook, in hel}:lng butchers
to feteh and carry -calves about, till Michaelmas 1793.—
Some time after March 1793, as examinant was going over
Shotford heath, \Te]rhread Suffolk, on his return from
Rusball, in Norfolk, from a°visit to bis fatheriin:law,
at Vaxley, ha wad pvértaken’ by 2 man called Jehn"lléﬁ
A

i fj rgﬂtﬂﬁ?;&h x?&nf‘mm;;nwg#ﬁ)
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and Gipsey Smith. They asked him, the examinant, if Le
would walk with them, and they would give him the dickey
(meaning an ass) he once wanied to purchase. He con-
sented, and went toa little cottage at Cratfield, in Suffolk, as
he afterwards understood. The two had told Examinant he
would get 101, by the job. When they arrived at the cottage,
Smith, alias Gipsey Diek, laid his band on a gate and said,
they must stop there. Iead and Gipsey Dick went to the
cottapge at eigﬁl or nine o'clock at night; it was not dark.
When they arrived there a woman was out. Smith went
into the houwse and Head felled the woman, Examinant
saw him strike at her two or three times, without saying &
word, After the woman was down, Head appeared to strike
ber again. Smith came out of the house with either a hatchet
or a hammer in his hand. Head gave something to Smith,
who put the same into his side-pecket, which examinant
heard rattle.  No one came by at the time, There was no
kind of alarm, and the first person they saw was, after
crossing twe or three fields, a man, whom Smith ad-
diessed as Hog. A general conversation was entered into,
and Head informed the man he had done them both. Fxa-
minant wanted to leave them, and they offered to treat him

at the White Horse, at Laxfield, but the former left them in

conversation with the man in the field. Examinant slept
that night at his lodgings at Stradbrook, at the house of one
Cattérmole, and on the next morning it was reported that &
man and woman had been murdered at Cratfield, which
Examinant supposed must have been the woman Head struck;
and that Gipsey Will had killed the man in the house.—
Examinant next saw Head on Swaffham Heath, cutting
ling, who asked the former if he had got the dickey (the ass)
S$mith had promised, when he replied in the negative.—
Examinant saw him two other times, but had no particulas
conversation with him. Examinant quitted the hulks in
1792, and he had since lived at Stradbrogk, and no where
else. He had not lived with his wife since his retarn from
fransportation. He was employed by Chase; a butcher at
Stradbrook, to carry calves about the country. Examinant
never knew the Carters at Cratfield, who were murdered.—
He saw Smith some time after, but when asked for the ass,
be said he bad parted with it. Examinant never received
gny of the pronrised reward offered him by Head. '

‘Fhirkiter, a constable who had thie prisoner four dave in
custody, proved, that he attempted an esgape, at 3 o'clock
in thé morning, from a room.

c
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The Judze called up John Wright, to ask if he knew whe-
ther the house of Carter had been robbed.

Witness did not believe sueh had been the case, at least
there were no such appearances.

The prisoner being. called on for his defence,
said, he mever was at Cratfield in his life, nor
had he any knowledge of the deceased Carter.

The Judge, in recapitulating the evidence to
the Jury, commented on the several passages
for the information of the Jury. It was rather
- strange, he observed, zhat part of Head’s testi-
mony relative to the prisoner having confessed
the murder on being reminded of the promise of
the hammer. That part of it which related to
the revenge expressed by the prisoner to Carter,
was deserving close consideration. The murder
was either perpetrated for revenge or for gain,
and it did not appear that the house had been
robbed. It the prisoner, or any other person,
committed the murder, it looked like revenge,
nevertheless the evidence of Head was very
questionable, where it was not confirmed by
others. It was a strong confirmation of his
story having corresponded with that given eleven

ears ago. Another part of the evidence of
{Lead demanded the strictest attention, and
should be weighed well in the scale of reason and
justice, whether it was true, as sworn by him,
that lie paid no attention to the declaration of
the murder by the prisoner to him, on the
ground that he disbelieved it altogether, from
the prisoner’s propensity to utter falsehoods. If
he had believed it, it was a duty of the last im-
portance to have made an early disclosure. The
learned Judge concluded by exhorting the Jury
to weigh well the evidence, and it a doubt



19

existed m their minds, they would give the pri-
suner the benefit of that douht.

The Jury retired thirty-frce minutes, and re-
turned a verdict of Guilty—Death.

The Crier of the Court having proclaimed
silence, on pain of imprisonment, the learned

Judge proceeded to pass on the prisoner the.

awfulsentence of the law, in the following words :

“ Prisoner at the Bar—You have been tried
and convicted, by an impartial Jury of your
country, of a most foul and cruel murder; a
murder on an inoffensive poor girl, who gave
you no provocation, and who you did not even
know, and of her aged tather too, in the mo-
ment of quietude. The motives which led to
that murder are best known to God and your
own conscience. Justice, though slow, has at
length overtaken you for this great and heinous
offence ; and you will do well not to flatter your-
self with the ‘hope of mercy betwixt this world
and the world to come, and therefore it behoves
you to make your peace with God, before whose
awful tribunal you must appear. I have now
to perform the most awful part of my duty.—
You will be removed fram hence to the place
from whence you came, and from thence to a
place of execution on Monday next, where you
will be hanged by the neck until you are dead,
and your body afterwards to be delivered to the
surgeons for dissection, and the Lord Almighty
receive your soul.”

The prisoner stood also indicted for the murder
of Thomas Carter, the father of Elizabeth Carter,
which it was unnecessary to enter into,

a2
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TIHE

TRIAL

OF

Joln Smith and Elizabeth his Wife,
FOR THE WILFUL MURDER OF
MARY ANN SMITH, their DAUGHTER.

o e o=

JOHN SMITH (aged39), and ELIZABETH

SMITH his Wife (aged 27 ), were indicted for
the Wijful Murder of MARY ANN SMITH,
8 years of age, in the parish of Cookley. The
Indictment contained several counts, whick
stated the said Murder to have been commitied
by a series of beatings, starvings, end exposure
to cold, from the 31st of December to the 11th
of Febryary, by which the said Mary Ann
Smith was cruelly wounded, her fect were in a
statg of mortification from cold, and her frame
emaciated for want of food; of which ill ireat-
ment the said Mary Ann Smith diedon the 11th
of February.

\ [ EB. ALDERSON stated the caseto theJury,

and observed, that should he succeed in .

bringing this murder home to the prisoners, it
was one of the most wicked muiders ever re-
corded. The deceased, Mary Ann Smith, was
the daughter of the male prisoner. The learned

e
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Counsel did not make observations with a view
of creating a prejudice in the minds of the Jury,
but in order to excite their attention to the facts
of the case. The male prisoner was married
about 12 years ago to his former wife, who died
of a cunmmptmn two years since ; and, said the
learned Counsel, it is a duty incumbent on me
to.state, that he would be proved to have been
a kind and tender husband, and a fond and in-
dulgent father. The nffspring of his first mar-
riage was three children, of the ages of eight,
fmlr and three years, and the e]dtst of whom
was the subject of this indictment.

The prisoners were married in November last,
and from that time a material change in the male
prisoner’s conduct took place. = Previously to
this marriage, the three ml;u. faced children ex-
cited the notice of travellers, from their cleanli-
niess. ‘The attention of the p'imh was directed
towards these unfortunate children at the be-
ginning of February. They had been shut up
from the public eye some time, which was at
first attributed to a different system of economy,
and that an abridgement of indulgencies might
be necessary. The state of the “children was
found to have altered, by starvation, beating,
exposure, and other cruelties, which would be
proved in evidence to have reduced the healthy
children to the most emaciated state, and the
airl, the subject of this indictment, would be
proved to have died in consequence, but the
lives of the other two were saved by another
char:tahlﬂ hand, '_

“(n' the 1st of February the prlsnner repre-
sented the state and condition of his child to 3,
surgeon, and attributed the catse of her ema-
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ciated state to a worm fever. At this time the
child’s feet were in a state of mortification to the
ancles, but the prisoners never disclosed this
fact to the surgeon when he called to look at the
child. The medical gentleman, continued the
learned Counsel, will be called, and from him
you will have a delineation of the horrible ema-
ciated state of the child, which was as complete
as any corpse. The surgeon observed the
children were starved, to which the female pri-
soner replied they had victuals enough, but they
might be short of drink. If she had kept from
the child in question that drink necessary to
support life, this indictment was completely
made out. A witness named Clark would be
called, to prove that she was shocked at the
alteration in the three children, and she would
also prove that she had several times carricd
them cakes, which they devoured with ravenous
appetite. She had told the female prisoner that
it was reported the children were starved, and
she added, *if the child up stairs die, woe be to
you.” It would be proved, out of Smith’s own
mouth, that on being charged with cruelty to
the child the subject of'this indictment, he con-
fessed having hung her up to a heam by a cord
fixed round her body, and that he had exposed
her three successive nights jn a shed, without
nourishment.

The learned Counsel continued to state, that
the prisoner gave his excuse for his barbarous
conduct, which it was not right here to mention,
What defence would be set up he knew not. —It
could not be supposed that for three months the
man prisoner did not know his children were in
want of food when pining to death before his
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" eyes! He was bound to know by law, and let
him ask his own conscience. The prisoner
could have no excuse by a plea of poverty, be-
cause in England starvation was not known.—
When the poor wanted, the parish officers were
bound to relieve, or answer for a refusal. 'The
learned Counnsel observed, that whatever might
be the feelings of the Jury, justice was required
at their hands. It was a tale of woe, and if]
under the directions of the Judge, the case
should not be made out in evidence, at least
the parish officers and the Jury would have dis-
charged themr duty.

LUCY SMITH sworn.
Examined by Mr. IHulton.

(). Are you & married woman ?

A. Yes, and the sister of John Smith.

(). State what you know relative to the state of the child
which died ?

A. My brother came crying to my house at Halesworth
on the night of the 4th of February, and said Inis eldest girl
was very bad, shie would certainly die, and the others were
following very fast.

). What did you do oni this representation ?

A, I went to his house the next morning, and saw the
three children and the prisonets. The eldest was in bed up~
sairs.

Q. What state was she in, and also the room #

A. The chamber was so offensive 1 could not bear the
smell, and the child had the appearance of death. I con-
cluded she could not live many hours. The ehildren below
seemed to be nearly in the samé state, and in that state of
indifference that did not notice any ebject.

Q. When did you see the child up-stairs again #

A. On the Friday, and the child in bed called ont
“ Aunt, come 1o me,” as I was going up stdirs, as she knew
my voice, '

Q. Had yon any conversation with the prisoners on the
state of the child, and what ?

A. I suid they were certainly sturved.
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Q. What was the reply to this?
A, The man prisoner said he could not get sufficient food
for them, and that he believed his wife kept drink from them;
I told him I would take the two children under my care, for
-which be expressed thanks. He said he was shocked to ste
the'eldest'child the last three weeks, and he would get rid of
* his wife by leaving the country. - :
. Q. You have the two children now under your protection,
- I believe ? -
A, Yes, [ have. J
Q. Did you perceive any other appearances on the eldest
- ehild on the second visit ?

A. Yes; on turning down the bed clothes I saw the body,
arms, and neck, much discoloured. I was shocked, and
asked how it came; when the female prisoner said it was
the disorder, and only came the day before. I talked with
her more than an hour on the state of the child, but she
only answered by saying she had done all she could. The
child wished me to undo her feet, which were wrapped in
cloths, but the female prisoner objected to it, as she had
just done theni up. The children were all in good health
previous to the marriagé; excepting Maria, who was trou-
bled with worms.

Q. The child which died you always conceived healthy ?

A. Yes, particularly so.

Cross-examined by M. Cooper, Counsel for the prisoners.

Q. You were not in the habit of visiting the prisdners at
the house since the ldst marriage r

. Mo ;

. Q. State to the Court the opinion you formed of your
brother’s character for humadnity ?

A. He was the best of husbands, and a most indulgent
kind-hearted father, till he married the other prisoner. The
first wife died of a decline, and he expressed fear that the
eldest child would take hatm from her copstant attendance
upon her.

Q. Where you much alone with the child ? ,

A. No, very little. She told me the female prisoner had
bung her up, but did not describe in what manner.

MARY CLARK sworn:
Evamined by Mr. Alderson.

Q. Where do you live Mrs. Clark?
A, At Chedisten: !

il
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Q. How far is that from Smith’s house ?

A. About half a mile.

Q. Do you know the prisoners ?

A. Yes, I went to Smith’s house in February last, and I
saw the woman prisoner,

Q. What induced you to go there, state to the Court?

A. I heard the children were starved, and that one was
dying. When 1 got to the house I was shocked with their
appearances, they having always been such fine, healthy,
clean, and jolly looking children. I went up stairs with
Mrs, Smith and saw the child in hed.. The room was in a
very bad filthy state, and obnoxious ; the smell was very bad.

Q. In what state did youfind the child ?

A. Tooshocking to tell ; I did'nt expeet she could live long.

Q. You frequently gave the children nourishment ?

A. I gave all the children oranges, cake, and wine and
water when I called, and they devoured it with ravenousap-
petite; the child in bed even partook of it with great eager~
ness, On the Friday when 1 called, 1 thought the child in
bed was dying; the woman prisoner turned down the bed
clothes, and the child cried out ** oh! vou hurt me.” Isaw
the marks on the child, which the prisoner said came with
the disorder.

Q. Did you express abhorrence at the prisoner’s conduct ?

A. I told the woman as I was coming down stairs, woe
be to her if the child did die. I told her every body said
the children were starved, and she replied, she gave them
what she could get, but they might have been short of drink.
The last time I went, the child called to me and said, “ Pray
dear stay with me, I can’t spare you.” I asked the woman
why the child should be so eager for me to stay., (The Judge
here observed, that that evidence was not admissible.)

Cross-examined by My, Cooper.

You knew the prisoners?
Yes, | have known the man seven years.
You lived near them ?
Yes, half a mile off.
Did you often go there?
In the first wife's time.
She died of a decline ?
Yes. i : -
State what you know of the man’s character #

A. As kind and good a husband and father us could be,
and I never could have suspected him of an act of cruelty to
his children when I knew so much of bim,

OrL>L>228
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ANN CAMERON sworn.

@. You, I believe, kept Smith’s house before be married
the other prisoner ?
A. Yes, thirteen months. ;
- Q. Were the children then healthy ?
A. Purely well and jolly, and always had their bellies fu
Q. When did you leave the house ?
A. On the 8th of November last.

Cross-examined.

Q. The prisoner was a good father ?

A. Yes, as any child need have.

Q. Plenty of food ?

A. Yes, always plenty of necessary food.

Q). He was not much at home ?

A. No, he is a labouring man, and was only at home at
his meals, and when he finished work.

Q. He was then an indulgent father, who never used se«
veérity to the children ?

A. Never.

JOHN WALKER, Surgeon, sworm.

Q. You know the prisoners ?

A. Yes .

Q). State to the Court any application the prisoner made
to you ? . : :
A. On Saturday the first of February, he came to me in
the morning before I was up, to give relief to his eldest child,
whom he said had' a worm fever. On making a general in-
quiry of the prisoner, I expressed surprise at his calling me
up, as [ did not find by his description such an act necessary.
I'sent him a worm-cake, and called on the child in a day or
two, The whole of them were very thin and dejected, and
took no notice of any object. Their apathy was remarkable,
and such as I never before witnessed in children. Their
pulses could scarcely be distinguished, it was languid aud
lifeless,

Q. Speak to the state of the eldest child ?

A. T went up stairs and found that child in a very dread-
ful state, she was more emaciated than any child I ever saw.

(3. Did you at this time know of any complaint in the
shild’s feet ¢

'A. No, that was strange to me. The child appeared {o
have a kind of thrush in the mouth,

D 2
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Q. Did you see the child after her death ?

A. Yes, at the inquest. [ was present when Mr. Stebbing
Revans opened the body. The lungs were sound, excepting
a small tubicle on the lobe of the lungs. '

Q. Were there any appearances to constitute symptoms of
consuomption ?

A. Not the slightest. The body was only opened to as-
certaiu the state of the lungs. '

Q. Did you see the feet after death ?

A. Yes.

Q. In what state were the feet ?

A. Mortified to the ancles. :

Q. Do you conceive from your practice that such mortifi-
cation was partly the cause of death ?

A. It certainly had great influence in accelerating the
child’s death ; it might have nevertheless recovered had it
been in a pure state of health. -Morufication in the extre-
mities might be brought on by low living, and cold was also,
an exciting cause. I have known instances of mortification
brought on by frost and cold. The abdomen of the child
appeared livid apd flaxed, and the skin was discoloured with

purple spots.
Cross-examined.

Q. Had you any conversation with the man prisoner on
the subject of his children ? 3

A. Yes, I told him the children were in a bad state, in g
state of starvation.

Q. What was his reply ?

A. That his first wife's illness had left him poor, and in-
volved him in debt, and he was not able to get food good
enough. I asked him why he did not get milk, and he re-
plied, the farmers would not let him have any; and I said,
no farmer at Cookley would refuse him,

Mr. STEBBING REVANS, jun. examined,

Q. You are a surgeon ?

A. Yes, .

Q. Were you present at the opening of Smith’s child ?

A. I opened the body. '

Q. What, in your opinion, was the cause of the child’
death, from the observations you made on opening the body 2

A. My opinion is, that the child died in consequence of
want of food. = - : ;
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Q. Then not of the mortification in the feet ?
. That no doubt would hasten the death of the child.
. (From the Judge.) Would the want of nuurlshmgut
nccaslun mortification ?

A. No, not alone ; mortification would be more likely to
take place from cold, by a person being in a weak state, than
if healthy and strong. I consider mortification, in this case,
a secondary cause of death,

Q. (By Counsel.) Then what is your opinion as to the
cause of death ?

A. I suppose the child to have died for want of fond, and
the mortification I conceive 4 secondary cause of death.

Cross-examined.

Q. If you had opened the child without hearing any pre-
vious'teports, should you not have cnm:ewed she might have
died of a consumption ¢

A. No.

Mr. STEBBING REVANS, sen. examined.

You are a surgeon ? ;
Yes, at Halesworth, '
In long practice ?
Yes, twenty-six or twenty-seven years.
You were present at the opening of the child ?
Yes.
What were the state of the lungs ?

A, There was a slight induration on the lungs, but they
were not unsound.

Q. State the situation of the feet ?

A. The feet were mortified to the ancles.

Q. What, according to your professional knowledge and
experience, wasthe cause of the child’s death ?

A. My opinion is, that the primary cause of death wasa
long want of food, and that the mortification was an exciting
cause, considering the debilitated state of the child.

OrLPOPD

In cross-examination, Mr. Revans was satisfled there were

no symptoms of organic disease about the child, and
being so satisfied, it was unnecessary to examine the
body further.

JOHN WRIGHT, a Constable at Halesworth, sworn,

Q. You apprehended the man pnsunerf
A. Yes.

Q. You had a conversation with him at that time?
. Yes.

ey i Tl S
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Q. (From the Judge.) Had you made him any prnrmae
of favour, if he wauld confess any thing.

A. No.

State what he s:u:l to you?

ﬂ.. I first told him, he could not pretend to say he did
not know the state of his children, and that he must have
seen them reducing daily. He had: first observed the marks
on the child’s neck and arms, and had not asked his wife
how it came. He once said to his wife, it was a hard thing
they could not get a bit of meat after working hard; and
she gaid, yes, it is; but the children will soon be ufF our
hands, and we 511311 do better. (The Judge here observed,-
this evidence was not gdmissible) His wife had insisted the
child should be put into the shed, and he had put her there
three different nights. He also said he had hung her up, but
not by the neck, by the middle, so as for her feet to touel’
the ground. This was for not doing her stent at spinning.

The case being closed on the part of the pnm:utmn, witnesses’
were called in defence.

Mr. HIGHAM, farmer, at Cookley, sworn.

Q. Youknow the man prisoner?

A. Ye:, he was in my employ from February 1805 to
October 1811. \ ]

Q. What was his conduct to his children ?

A. He was one of the best and most tender fathers.

Q. What were his average earnings ?

A. Half-a-guinea a weeL but I sold him two bushels uf
wheat every three weeks, at 6s, per bushel, and 1 never
hieard of any distress for food experienced by him.

Q. Do you know this shed where the child was put and
describe it ?

A. It joins Smith’s house, and is set in with 'faggﬂts

JAMES REEVE, Fsq. sworn.

Q. How long have vou known the prisoner 1

A. Three or four years. :

(). Did yon know his children ?

A. Yes, I have frequently noticed their health and clean-
liness.

Q. Do you happen, Sir, to know any thlng of tlre pri-
soner’s character for bumanity ?
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A. I do, and I always conceived him & mont tender-hearted r
man., He called frequeatly at my bouse for wine when his

first wife was ill, but I have known but little of him since
his last marriage.

Mr. HAY WﬁR:D, of Cookley, also gave the prisonera
good character for humanity,

“Thel uﬂge observed, character had been carried as far as
it eould. The Counsel had described the prisoner zs
jpossessing a good character in his opening,

In recapitulating the evidence to the Jury,
the Judge observed, that the Jury must first be
satisfied that a murder had been committed, and
he dwelt on the evidence of the three profes-
sional gentlemen who had given their opinion
that the deceased met her death by starvation,
which was accelerated by other cruelties. They
had stated that the mortification was an exciting

cause, which would hasten dissolution where
the body was in a dejected state. The Jur
would weigh the evidence, and deliver their
verdict accordingly. |

After five minutes deliberation, the Jury
found both prisoners Guilty—JDeath.

~ The Judge proceeded to pass judgment of
"death on the prisoners, with the following ob-
servations:

“¢ Prisoners at the Bar,—You have had a fair
and impartial trial, and now stand convicted of
a most barbarous murder, at which human na-
ture revolts—that of your child, by a series of
unparallelled cruelties and tortures. An offence
more wicked than your’s cannot be.

“ You, John Smith, the unnatural father of
the child whom you were bound to cherish and
comfort, not only inflicted tortures, but suftered
the said child to be persecuted by your wife.
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f ¢“You, the woman prisoner, are equally guilty ;
for you, instead of being an affectionate mother

‘to the child, withheld from her the common sus-

M tenance and nourishments necessary for the sup-
bl port of life. I do not mean here to upbraid ;
il you are about to fall victims to your country’s
just laws. I intreat you not to expect mercy
can be administered you in this world ; but pre-

_pare, by pious devotions, for the tribunal before

which you will shortly have to appear. You will

beremoved from hence to the place from whence

you came, and from thence to a place of exe-

i cution on Monday next, the 23d of March,
1 where you will severally be hanged by the necks
A until you are severally dead, and your bodies
afterwards to be delivered to surgeons for dis-
section, and God, in bis infinite goodness and

T —

mercy, receive your souls.” [ i

T e m—

The prisoners, with Thrower, were immediately
eonveyed in two post chaises to Ipswich.

e

i | Smith and his Wife have not spoke together for some
time, and during the ftrial they never evén glanced at
each other. The man seemed much affected during the

\ trial, and particularly so whilst the Judge was passing

. sentence, when he wept bitterly. 'The woman prisoner,

Fe on the contrary, seemed indifferent to either the trial or

the sentence, and never moved a muscle.

FINIS.
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